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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF KENTUCKY
LONDON DIVISION
Electronically Filed on December 30, 2016
J.S. AND S.S., AS NEXT FRIENDS
OF Q.W., A MINOR

:
:
:
:
PLAINTIFF
:
:
v.
:
:
LAUREL COUNTY BOARD OF
:
EDUCATION
:
:
:
:
DR. DOUG BENNETT, IN HIS
:
INDIVIDUAL CAPACITY AND
:
OFFICIAL CAPACITY
:
AS SUPERINTENDENT
:
OF THE LAUREL COUNTY PUBLIC
:
SCHOOLS
:
:
AND
:
:
DENISE GRIEBEL, IN HER INDIVIDUAL :
CAPACITY AND OFFICIAL
:
CAPACITY AS DISTRICT LIAISON FOR :
HOMELESS CHILDREN IN THE LAUREL :
COUNTY PUBLIC SCHOOLS
:
:
:
DEFENDANTS
:

Case No. ______________________

VERIFIED COMPLAINT AND
JURY DEMAND

Plaintiffs J.S. and S.S., as next friends for Q.W., a minor, through their counsel, hereby
file their Complaint against Defendants Laurel County Board of Education, Dr. Doug Bennett in
his individual capacity and official capacity as Superintendent of the Laurel County Public
Schools, and Denise Griebel in her individual capacity and official capacity as District Liaison
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for homeless children in Laurel County Public Schools (collectively, the “Defendants”), and
allege as follows:
INTRODUCTION
1.

This lawsuit is brought on behalf of and for the benefit of Q.W., a homeless sixth

grade student, who is currently attending a middle school in the Laurel County Public School
system and temporarily residing with S.S. and J.S. As a homeless student, Q.W. has certain
substantive and procedural rights under the McKinney-Vento Homeless Education Assistance
Improvements Act of 2001, 42 U.S.C. §§ 11431, et seq., (the “McKinney-Vento Act” or “Act”).
Among other things, under the McKinney-Vento Act, Q.W. is entitled to participate fully in
school activities, including sports activities, and cannot be denied access to such activities based
upon residency requirements or other similar school policies. Indeed, the McKinney-Vento Act
mandates that the Defendants eliminate barriers that would preclude Q.W. from being able to
fully participate in such activities and further provides that, to the extent any disputes exist as to
Q.W.’s status and rights under the Act, Q.W. must be able to immediately participate in such
activities pending a resolution of the dispute, which must be reached promptly.
2.

The Defendants are fully aware of Q.W.’s status and rights as a homeless student

under the McKinney-Vento Act, having, themselves, identified Q.W. as homeless. In spite of
such knowledge, however, the Defendants have intentionally, willfully and repeatedly denied
Q.W. the opportunity to fully participate in school activities by, among other things, refusing to
permit him to play on the middle school’s basketball team and participate in team activities. The
Defendants have purportedly based their refusal upon an unlawful residency policy by the
Defendant Laurel County Board of Education that precludes students from participating in sports
activities unless their parents reside in the school district for the school they attend. In refusing
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Q.W. access to extracurricular activities, the Defendants have violated several requirements of
the McKinney-Vento Act and regulations promulgated thereunder and failed to comply with the
directives of the Kentucky Department of Education.
3.

With less than nine games remaining in the middle school basketball season,

unless immediate relief is granted, Q.W. will be denied the educational benefits Congress sought
to provide homeless children in enacting the McKinney-Vento Act and suffer irreparable harm.
Accordingly, to remedy the Defendants’ deliberate and egregious violations of federal law,
Plaintiffs seek temporary, preliminary and permanent injunctive relief to compel Defendants to
comply with the federal law and permit Q.W. the opportunity to play basketball pending the
resolution of any dispute the Defendants may have regarding Q.W.’s status and rights under the
McKinney-Vento Act. The Plaintiffs have reason to believe that similarly situated students may
have also been precluded from participating in school-sanctioned athletics in violation of the
McKinney-Vento Act, and the Plaintiffs seek a change to existing policies to end that unlawful
practice for current and future aggrieved parties. Additionally, Plaintiffs seek an award of their
attorney fees and costs in bringing this action and any further relief, including, but not limited to
punitive damages, as deemed appropriate by the Court.
PARTIES
4.

Plaintiffs J.S. and S.S. are residents of Laurel County, Kentucky. Plaintiffs J.S.

and S.S. have a lawfully executed temporary Power of Attorney for Q.W., a minor, and a Power
Of Attorney For Temporary Delegation of Parental Custody And Care of Q.W. [See Affidavits
of J.S. and S.S., collectively attached hereto as Exhibit A and incorporated herein by reference.].
J.S. and S.S. are qualified as next friends for and may sue on behalf of Q.W. under KRS §§
387.300; 403.352.
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5.

Defendant Laurel County Board of Education is a Kentucky state agency charged

with the general control and management of Kentucky public schools within the Laurel County
school district. Defendant Laurel County Board of Education is “a body politic and corporate”
which may sue and be sued. See KRS §§ 160.160; 160.290. Defendant Laurel County Board of
Education is also a Local Educational Agency under the McKinney-Vento Act.
6.

Defendant Dr. Doug Bennett is the Superintendent of Laurel County Public

Schools. Upon information and belief, Dr. Bennett resides in Laurel County, Kentucky.
7.

Defendant Denise Griebel is the Local Educational Agency Liaison for Homeless

Children, as that role is defined in Section 722 in the McKinney-Vento Act, for homeless
children in the Laurel County Public Schools. Upon information and belief, Ms. Griebel resides
in Laurel County, Kentucky.
JURISDICTION AND VENUE
8.

This case is a civil action arising under 28 U.S.C. § 1343(a)(3) as it involves an

action to redress the deprivation of rights and privileges secured by the constitution of the United
States and Acts of Congress providing for equal rights of citizens within the jurisdiction of the
United States. This Court further has subject matter jurisdiction of this action pursuant to 28
USC §§ 1331.
9.

Q.W. has been deprived of federal statutory rights and thus Plaintiffs bring this

action on behalf of Q.W. pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983.
10.

This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants as Defendants are residents

of and/or are located in Laurel County, Kentucky.
11.

Venue is proper in this district under 28 USC §§ 1391(b)-(c).
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GENERAL ALLEGATIONS
Background Facts Relating to Q.W.’s Living Circumstances and Relationship with J.S. and S.S.
12.

Q.W. has transitioned between and among different schools and residences for

the majority of his life, living primarily, but not always, with his biological mother. In August of
2016, Q.W. enrolled in the sixth grade at Stonybrook Intermediate Academy (“Stonybrook”), a
public school in Indianapolis, Indiana. At that time, Q.W. and his biological mother had lost
their home and were living “doubled up” with Q.W.’s grandmother. At some point thereafter,
Q.W. and his biological mother began staying in different hotels.
13.

Due to his circumstances, Stonybrook deemed Q.W. “homeless” as that term is

defined under the McKinney-Vento Act. [See “McKinney Vento Enrollment Form,” attached
hereto as Exhibit B and incorporated herein by reference.]

Because Q.W. was homeless,

Stonybrook Intermediate Academy arranged for transportation services to be provided to Q.W.,
pursuant to the rights afforded homeless children under the McKinney-Vento Act.
14.

Plaintiffs J.S. and S.S. are residents of and have a home in Laurel County,

Kentucky. They often travel in connection with their biological children’s sports activities.
While traveling to and attending certain of these sporting events, J.S. and S.S. met and developed
a relationship with Q.W. and Q.W.’s biological father.
15.

In the fall of 2016, J.S. and S.S. learned of Q.W.’s homeless living conditions.

16.

At or near the same time, Q.W.’s biological parents decided that they did not have

the economic resources to provide consistent care for Q.W.
17.

In order to improve Q.W.’s living conditions and provide the necessary care for

Q.W., J.S. and S.S. agreed to provide residential and other living support and care for Q.W. at
their home in Laurel County, Kentucky.
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18.

On or about October 19, 2016, Q.W.’s parents executed a temporary Power of

Attorney, valid for one year, and a Power of Attorney for Temporary Delegation of parental
Custody and Care that permitted Q.W. to move to Laurel County, Kentucky to live with J.S. and
S.S.
19.

On or about October 24, 2016, S.S and J.S. sought to enroll Q.W. in the public

middle school within their residential area or attendance zone. Thereafter, Q.W. began attending
classes at North Laurel Middle School.
20.

Upon information and belief, a school counselor entered Q.W.’s enrollment

information into a student data management system utilized by the Laurel County Public Schools
called “infinite campus.” According to Q.W.’s infinite campus records, the school appropriately
identified Q.W. as “homeless” and living with “friends or relatives.” [See Infinite Campus
Record for Q.W. attached as Exhibit C hereto and incorporated herein by reference.]
Rights of Homeless Children Under Federal Law
21.

Homeless children and youth encounter substantial obstacles in their pursuit of

education as a result of their unstable living conditions. To remove the obstacles faced by
homeless children, Congress acted decisively in enacting the McKinney-Vento Act for the
purpose of providing homeless children the same educational opportunities as non-homeless
children.
22.

The McKinney-Vento Act adopts a broad definition of “homeless” and states that

children and youths who “lack a fixed, regular and adequate nighttime residence” will be
considered homeless. 42. U.S.C. § 11434a(2)(A). Congress specifically studied the housing
arrangements of homeless families and concluded that it was essential to the functioning of the
McKinney-Vento Act that families “doubling up” or living with others in temporary housing
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arrangements must be included within the definition of homeless. Accordingly, in defining what
it means to be homeless, the McKinney-Vento Act expressly includes “children and youths who
are sharing the housing of other persons due to loss of housing, economic hardship, or a similar
reason.” Id. at § 1134(a)(2)(B(i).
23.

The McKinney-Vento Act mandates that States ensure that homeless children and

youths “do not face barriers to accessing academic and extracurricular activities.” Id. at §
11432(g)(1)(F)(iii). If States enact “regulations, practices, or policies that may act as a barrier to
the enrollment, attendance, or success in school of homeless children and youths,” they must
“review and undertake steps to revise such laws, regulations, practices, or policies to ensure that
homeless children and youths are afforded the same free, appropriate public education as
provided to other children and youths.” Id. at § 11431(a).
24.

Similarly, the McKinney-Vento Act mandates that Local State Agencies

(“LEAs”) “shall review and revise any policies that may act as barriers to the identification of
homeless children and youths or the enrollment of homeless children and youths in schools.” Id.
at § 11432(g)(7)(A). The terms “enroll” and “enrollment” under the Act “include attending
classes and participating fully in school activities,” including extracurricular sports activities. Id.
at §§ 11432(g)(1)(F)(iii); 11434a(1). [See also Order granting Temporary Restraining Order in
Sanchez v. Northern Section California Interscholastic Federation, et al., Superior Court of the
State of California, County of Trinity, Case No. 15CV016, attached hereto as Exhibit D; Final
Order In the Matter of the Eligibility of C. to Participate in Interscholastic Activities,
Superintendent of Public Instruction, State of Oregon, Case No. 581-021-0035-09-1, attached as
Exhibit E.]
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25.

The McKinney-Vento Act specifically requires that LEAs provide an expeditious

process of resolving disputes affecting the educational rights of homeless children. Id. at §
11432(g)(3)(E)(i)-(iii). In the event of such dispute, the parent or guardian of the affected child
or youth “shall be provided with a written explanation of any decisions related to school
selection or enrollment made by the school, the local educational agency, or the State educational
agency involved, including the rights of the parent, guardian, or unaccompanied youth to appeal
such decisions.” Id. Additionally, the Act requires that the parent or guardian of the affected
youth “shall be referred to the local educational agency liaison … who shall carry out the dispute
resolution process … as expeditiously as possible after receiving notice of the dispute.” Id.
26.

Moreover, the McKinney-Vento Act states that if a dispute arises over school

enrollment, the homeless student “shall be immediately admitted to the school in which
enrollment is sought, pending resolution of the dispute, including all available appeals.” Id.
This includes allowing students to fully participate in extracurricular sports activities pending the
resolution of any such dispute.
Defendants’ Refusal to Permit Q.W. to Fully Participate in School Activities
27.

After Q.W. began classes at North Laurel Middle School, the teachers and

coaches were generally inviting, welcoming and supportive of Q.W.’s educational needs and
requirements. Q.W. even participated in try-outs for and was selected to be on the North Laurel
Middle School basketball team. After making the basketball team, however, S.S. and J.S. were
informed that the Defendants would not permit Q.W. to play on the basketball team due to a
policy of Defendant Laurel County Board of Education that prohibits students from participating
in sports unless the students’ parents live in the school district and that there were no exceptions
to this policy, even for homeless students like Q.W.
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28.

S.S. and J.S. immediately reached out to the North Laurel Middle School

principal and ultimately to Defendants Bennett and Griebel seeking further explanation and
understanding of the Defendants’ decision.
29.

Meanwhile, S.S., on behalf of Q.W., contacted Defendant Bennett as

Superintendent of the Laurel County Public Schools. Defendant Bennett, however, reiterated
that Q.W. was ineligible to play on the North Laurel Middle School basketball team under the
residency policies of the Laurel County Board of Education and that no exception was available.
Thereafter, J.S. and S.S. retained Attorney Lyle McQuinn of the firm Goeing, Goeing &
McQuinn to represent Q.W.’s rights under the McKinney-Vento Act. In accordance therewith,
Attorney McQuinn sent a letter, dated November 14, 2016, to Defendant Bennett requesting that
Defendant Bennett grant an exception to the referenced Laurel County Board of Education’s
policy.

[See Letter from McQuinn to Bennett, dated November 14, 2016, attached hereto as

Exhibit F and incorporated herein by reference.]
30.

On or about November 16, 2016, Attorney Larry G. Bryson, on behalf of the

Defendant Laurel County Board of Education, sent a letter to Attorney McQuinn refusing to
provide Q.W. any exemption from the policy, despite Q.W.’s circumstances, stating that
similarly situated students in the past have been treated in the same discriminatory manner and
that the Defendants intend to continue discriminating against such students in the future:
Q.W. is welcome to participate in many co-curriculums and after school activities
and clubs that will teach him the life lessons that [J.S. and S.S.] are attempting to
achieve. However, the Laurel County Athletic policy is clear in its statement that
“educational guardianships, powers of attorney and similar documents signed by a
parent attempting to establish residency of a student in a geographic attendance
zone other than that in which the parent resides shall not be deemed valid for the
purposes of this policy beginning school year 2003-2004.” These students are not
eligible to participate on any school sponsored athletic team. The Laurel County
Board of Education has reviewed the Athletic Policy and approved. We cannot
now make an exception for one student as I am sure you can understand, we have
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had many students in the past and will have many more in the future that will
attempt to play sports in our district that have come from situations they are trying
to rise up from.
[See Letter from Bryson to McQuinn, dated November 16, 2016, attached hereto as Exhibit G
and incorporated herein by reference.]
31.

Attorney Bryson’s November 16, 2016 letter provided no details as to how

Plaintiffs could appeal the Defendants’ decision.
32.

On December 2, 2016, Attorney McQuinn sent another letter to Attorney Bryson

explaining that the policy relied upon by the Defendants violated the McKinney-Vento Act and
that under the Act Q.W. was entitled to fully participate in all extracurricular sports activities.
Attorney McQuinn again requested that Q.W. be immediately allowed to participate in athletic
extracurricular activities.

[See Letter from Bryson to McQuinn, dated December 2, 2016

attached hereto as Exhibit H and incorporated herein by reference.]
33.

When S.S. contacted Defendant Griebel as the designated Liaison under the

McKinney-Vento Act, Defendant Griebel stated that she was unsure about the applicability of
the McKinney-Vento Act. Defendant Griebel, however, did not inform S.S. of any mechanism
to resolve any disputes regarding Q.W.’s eligibility or rights under the McKinney-Vento Act and
did not take any further action whatsoever to determine whether or not such a dispute existed.
34.

As a result of Defendant Griebel’s inaction, S.S., on behalf of Q.W., contacted

Tyson Harbin at the Kentucky Department of Education (“KDE”) concerning Q.W.’s situation.
After investigating the matter, Mr. Harbin contacted Defendant Griebel by telephone and email.
Eventually, in an email dated December 20, 2016, Mr. Harbin stated that he had “received
information confirming that [Q.W.] is indeed identified as homeless” and that “[w]ith this being
confirmed according to McKinney-Vento he should be allowed to play immediately.” Mr.

10

Case: 6:16-cv-00309-GFVT Doc #: 1 Filed: 12/30/16 Page: 11 of 19 - Page ID#: 11

Harbin further attached copies of the Kentucky Department of Education’s homeless dispute
resolution form for Defendant Griebel to complete if the Defendants disagreed with Q.W.’s
eligibility status but otherwise made clear that “until this is resolved, [Q.W.] is identified as
homeless for the time being and should no longer face any barriers that would prevent him from
participating in any activity.” [See Email from T. Harbin to D. Griebel, dated December 20,
2016, attached hereto as Exhibit I and incorporated herein by reference.] Upon information and
belief, Mr. Harbin attempted to follow up regarding compliance with his December 20, 2016
email with telephone calls to Defendant Griebel and Defendant Bennett but received no response
from the Defendants. To date, Defendant Griebel has not completed the Kentucky Department
of Education’s homeless dispute resolution form, and Plaintiffs are unaware of whether an actual
dispute regarding Q.W.’s eligibility under the McKinney-Vento Act exists.
35.

In spite of Mr. Harbin’s email explaining that Q.W. must immediately be

permitted to participate on the basketball team, the Defendants have refused to permit Q.W. to
practice or play on the team.
36.

On December 20, 2016, J.S. called Defendant Bennett to ask for a meeting with

him to discuss the continuing decision to preclude Q.W.’s participation on the basketball team.
Defendant Bennett informed J.S. that there was nothing to discuss because attorneys were
involved and the school board was so busy they had not had an opportunity to consider the
matter.
37.

In spite of having been made aware of their obligations under the McKinney-

Vento Act by the Plaintiffs, Attorney McQuinn, and the Kentucky Department of Education, the
Defendants continue to intentionally, deliberately and blatantly deprive Q.W. of the opportunity
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to fully participate in school activities, including play basketball on the North Laurel Middle
School basketball team.
Defendants’ Egregious Violations of their Federal Statutory Obligations
38.

Defendants have knowingly, deliberately and intentionally failed to revise their

policies and practices, which create a barrier to the enrollment, attendance and success of
homeless youths.
39.

Defendants have knowingly, deliberately and intentionally implemented policies

and practices that prohibit homeless youths from fully participating in school activities including
extracurricular athletic activities.
40.

Defendants have utterly failed to establish an effective and timely procedure for

the resolution of disputes regarding enrollment or eligibility under the McKinney-Vento Act and
have blatantly denied homeless youths the opportunity to immediately and fully participate in all
school activities pending the resolution of any disputes.
41.

Defendants have knowingly, deliberately and intentionally delayed resolving any

disputes regarding enrollment or eligibility under the McKinney-Vento Act for the purposes of
forever depriving homeless youths the opportunity to fully participate in school activities.
42.

Defendants have refused or failed to provide Q.W. with the full rights and

entitlements under the law.
Q.W.’s Injury and Irreparable Harm
43.

As set forth above, as a result of Defendants’ unlawful policies and practices,

Q.W. has suffered and continues to suffer irreparable harm.
44.

Q.W.’s injuries result from Defendants’ failure to comply with the McKinley-

Vento Act.
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45.

Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law.
COUNT 1:
VIOLATIONS OF THE MCKINNEY-VENTO ACT
42 U.S.C. §§ 11431, et seq.

46.

Plaintiffs incorporate all of the allegations as set forth in paragraphs 1-44 above.

47.

Defendant Laurel County Board of Education is a Local Education Agency under

the McKinney-Vento Act and subject to the obligations thereunder.
48.

Defendant Bennett in his capacity as Superintendent of the Laurel County Schools

has the responsibility of making necessary exemptions to the policies of the Laurel County Board
of Education that present barriers to the ability of the homeless youths to fully participate in
school activities as required under the McKinney-Vento Act.
49.

Defendant Griebel is the designated Liaison under the McKinney-Vento Act and

is subject to the obligations of such liaisons under the Act, including, but not limited to,
facilitating any disputes regarding homeless youths’ eligibility and status under the Act.
50.

Defendants have failed to establish and/or refused to initiate or follow any process

for expeditiously resolving disputes as to the eligibility and enrollment of homeless youths under
the McKinney-Vento Act and/or have implemented such a cumbersome and vaguely defined
process that it cannot reasonably be complied with by the families and guardians of homeless
youths.
51.

Defendants have further failed to and/or refused to permit homeless youths the

opportunity to fully participate in all school athletics pending the resolution of any disputes
regarding such youths’ status, eligibility and enrollment under the McKinney-Vento Act.
52.

Defendants have failed to address the impediments to enrollment cause by

residency and other requirements in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 11432(g)(7), have failed to develop,
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“review, [and] revise policies to remove the barriers to the enrollment and retention of homeless
children and youth” in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 11432(g)(1)(l), and have failed to ensure
homeless students’ right to fully participate in and be “immediately enrolled in the school in
which enrollment is sought, pending final resolution of the dispute, including all available
appeals” in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 11432(g)(3)(E).
53.

Defendants have failed to carry out any dispute resolution process regarding

Q.W.’s eligibility under the McKinney-Vento Act or notify Plaintiffs of their rights to appeal
Defendants’ decisions regarding such eligibility in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 11432(g)(3)(E).
54.

Defendants have violated the rights of Plaintiffs and Q.W. under the McKinney-

Vento Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 11431-11435.
55.

Defendants have acted deliberately and willfully in their efforts to deprive Q.W.

of the full rights and entitlements under the McKinney-Vento Act.
56.

Defendants’ conduct is causing, and will continue to cause, irreparable harm to

Q.W., unless it is enjoined by this Court. Plaintiff is entitled to temporary, preliminary and
permanent injunctive relief (1) to require Defendants to immediately permit Q.W. the
opportunity to play basketball on the North Laurel Middle School basketball team pending the
final resolution of any disputes regarding Q.W.’s eligibility and enrollment under the McKinneyVento Act; (2) to review and revise any and all of Defendants’ policies that may act as barriers to
the identification of homeless children and youths or the enrollment and full participation of
homeless children and youths in schools and all school activities including extracurricular sports
activities; (3) to enjoin Defendants from implementing any policies or practices that act as
barriers to the identification of homeless children and youths or the enrollment and full
participation of homeless children and youths in school and school activities including
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extracurricular sports activities; (4) to require Defendants to immediately implement and follow
procedures for the expeditious resolution of any disputes regarding the eligibility and enrollment
of homeless youths and children, including Q.W., under the McKinney-Vento Act, including
implementing and following any and all dispute resolution procedures established by the
Kentucky Department of Education; and (5) to require Defendants to file with the Court and
serve on the Plaintiffs a report in writing under oath setting forth in detail the manner and form in
which the Defendants have complied with the injunction.
57.

The Court should further find that this is an egregious case and award Plaintiffs

their attorney fees, costs and punitive damages
COUNT 2:
VIOLATIONS OF 42 U.S.C. § 1983
58.

Plaintiff incorporates all of the allegations as set forth in Paragraphs 1-55 above.

59.

By implementing and authorizing the policies and practices pursuant to which

Q.W. is denied full access to public education in the Laurel County Public Schools, Defendants
have deprived, and will continue to deprive Q.W. of rights remedies, privileges, and immunities
guaranteed to every citizen of the United States in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and of rights
guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution, the McKinneyVento Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 11431, et seq., and the regulations promulgated thereunder.
60.

All Defendants have acted under pretense and color of state law and in their

individual and official capacities and within the scope of their employment. Defendants’ acts
described herein were beyond the scope of their jurisdiction, without authority of law, and in
abuse of their powers, and said Defendants acted willfully, knowingly, and with the specific
intent to deprive Plaintiffs and Q.W. of their constitutional and federal statutory rights secured by
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42 U.S.C., § 1983. Defendants have conspired among themselves to do so (taking numerous
overt steps in furtherance thereof) and failed to prevent one another from doing so.
61.

Defendants’ conduct is causing, and will continue to cause, irreparable harm to

Q.W., unless it is enjoined by this Court. Plaintiff is entitled to temporary, preliminary and
permanent injunctive relief (1) to require Defendants to immediately permit Q.W. the
opportunity to play basketball on the North Laurel Middle School basketball team pending the
final resolution of any disputes regarding Q.W.’s eligibility and enrollment under the McKinneyVento Act; (2) to review and revise any and all of Defendants’ policies that may act as barriers to
the identification of homeless children and youths or the enrollment and full participation of
homeless children and youths in schools and all school activities including extracurricular sports
activities; (3) to enjoin Defendants from implementing any policies or practices that act as
barriers to the identification of homeless children and youths or the enrollment and full
participation of homeless children and youths in school and school activities including
extracurricular sports activities; (4) to require Defendants to immediately implement and follow
procedures for the expeditious resolution of any disputes regarding the eligibility and enrollment
of homeless youths and children, including Q.W., under the McKinney-Vento Act, including
implementing and following any and all dispute resolution procedures established by the
Kentucky Department of Education; and (5) to require Defendants to file with the Court and
serve on the Plaintiffs a report in writing under oath setting forth in detail the manner and form in
which the Defendants have complied with the injunction.
62.

The Court should further find that this is an egregious case and award Plaintiffs

their attorney fees, costs and punitive damages
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF
Wherefore Plaintiffs requests the following relief:
A.

Plaintiffs seek temporary, preliminary and permanent injunctive relief compelling

Defendants to immediately permit Q.W. to fully participate in all school activities including
extracurricular sports activities and to comply with all requirements of the McKinney-Vento Act.
B.

Plaintiffs seeks an award of punitive damages in an amount to be determined at

trial sufficient to punish Defendants and deter others similarly situated because Defendants have
acted towards Plaintiffs with willful misconduct, malice, fraud and oppression;
F.

Plaintiffs seek the costs and attorney’s fees incurred in this action;

G.

Plaintiffs seek prejudgment and post-judgment interest at the maximum rate

permitted by law;
H.

Plaintiffs seek a trial by jury on all issues so triable; and

I.

Plaintiffs seek any other relief the Court deems just and equitable.
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Respectfully submitted,
STOLL KEENON OGDEN PLLC
300 West Vine Street, Suite 2100
Lexington, Kentucky 40507
Phone: (859) 231-3000
Facsimile: (859) 253-1093
adam.back@skofirm.com
dana.howard@skofirm.com
/s/ Adam M. Back
Adam M. Back
Dana R. Howard
Counsel for Plaintiffs
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VERIFICATION
I, S
S
, hereby certify that I have reviewed the foregoing statements, and they
are true and accurate to the best of my knowledge and belief.

S

S

COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY
) :SS
COUNTY OF

\,

U

The foregoing instrument was subscribed, sworn to and acknowledged before me this
day of December, 2016, by S
S
.
My commission expires:
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NOTARY PUBLIC
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I, J
S
, hereby certify that I have reviewed the foregoing statements, and
they are true and accurate to the best of my knowledge and belief.

J

S

COMMONWEALTH
COMMONWEALTH
OFOF
KENTUCKY
KENTUCKY )
) :SS
Q
COUNTY OF La
.t.c/
\ -rit
The foregoing instrument was subscribed, sworn to and acknowledged before me this
day of December, 2016, by J
S
.
My commission expires:
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NOTARY PUBLIC
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